56 ✓
X 90 ✓

3-26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 9 1988

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By _____

Deputy Clerk
CASE NO. 71,878

JOINT VENTURES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,
STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
JOINT VENTURES, INC.
(ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT)

S. CARY GAYLORD, ESQ.
ALAN E. DESERIO, ESQ.
BRIGHAM, MOORE, GAYLORD
WILSON, ULMER, SCHUSTER
& SACHS
777 S. Harbour Island Blvd.
Suite 900
Tampa, FL 33602
(813)229-8811
Attorneys for Petitioner

BRIGHAM, MOORE, GAYLORD, SCHUSTER & SACHS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant/petitioner, JOINT VENTURES, INC., requested an administrative hearing, pursuant to Sec. 337.241(3), Fla. Stat., in order to challenge the filing of a "map of reservation" which was filed in November, 1985, and which encompassed 6.49 acres of a larger 8.3 acre tract owned by the appellants. (R:201-203). In its petition the appellants alleged that the regulation was unconstitutional and violated both the United States and Florida constitutions; that the regulation was unreasonable and arbitrary, and that the regulation had impaired and frustrated a previously executed contract for the sale of the property. (R:201-203).

At the hearing, the constitutionality of Sec. 337.241, Fla. Stat. was raised in order to preserve the issue. (R:11-12; 231-232 - Order of Hearing Officer).

Upon consideration of the evidence offered the hearing officer ruled adversely to the claim of the owner finding that it had failed to prove "that the action of DOT in filing the map of reservation is unreasonable or arbitrary." (R:237). The petition of the owner was then dismissed. (R:237-289) (A:1-8).

The hearing officer interpreted the provisions of Sec. 337.241(3), Fla. Stat., as requiring the entry of a final order rather than the usual recommended order. (R:236). The order entered was timely appealed as such by the owner. (R:241).

Subsequently, the DOT moved to dismiss the appeal alleging that the DOT, and not the hearing officer, was required to enter the final order. The District Court denied the motion, but relinquished jurisdiction of the cause to the DOT for entry of a final order. The DOT order adopted the Findings of Fact set forth in the order previously entered. It also adopted the conclusions of law expressed in the hearing officer's order, except that portion which discussed the nature of the order to be entered by a hearing officer. (R:242) (A:9-10).

The owners timely sought review of the final order and challenged the constitutionality of Sec. 337.241, Fla. Stat. After oral argument the owners moved the District Court for leave to supplement the record with certain correspondence that was not available to the owners at the time of the administrative hearing held March 27, 1986. (A:13-16). The correspondence, dated April 24, 1986, notified the owners that the purchaser had terminated the purchase agreement and demanded refund of its deposit. (A:16). The District Court subsequently denied the motion. (A:17).

During the pendency of the appeal the DOT formally condemned the property of the owners which was covered by the map of reservation. (A:21-29, 30-32). The DOT took possession, upon deposit of the "good faith" estimate on April 28, 1987 (A:33), which was 16 months after the map of reservation was imposed. The owners counterclaimed in inverse condemnation alleging a taking for the time period from the imposition of the map of reservation to the formal condemnation of the property. (A:35-39). The cause thereafter was settled as to both the formal condemnation and the

inverse claim. (A:40-43). The parties agreed that the appeal would remain pending notwithstanding the settlement. (A:44-45).

Subsequently, the DOT moved to dismiss the appeal as moot. (A:18-61). Upon consideration of the DOT's motion and the owners response (A:62-70), the Court denied the motion, finding that the cause presented a question of great public importance.; (A:71).

The District Court rendered its opinion on January 29, 1988, upholding the constitutionality of Sec. 337.241, Fla. Stat. (A:72-89). The Court based this ruling upon the finding that an owner has a remedy in addition to that provided by the statutory provision in that an owner can pursue an inverse condemnation action in circuit court. (A:78-79).

The District Court found that the cause involved a question of great public importance and certified the following question to this Court for resolution:

Whether subsections 337.241(2) and (3) are unconstitutional in that they provide for an impermissible taking of property without compensation and deny equal protection and due process in failing to provide an adequate remedy. (A:79)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November, 1985, the Department of Transportation filed a "map of reservation", pursuant to Sec. 337.241(1), Fla. Stat., which encompassed the majority of the property owned by the petitioner. (R:28). (See Exhibit 1: Diagram of Reservation Area on the following page). It was stipulated by the parties that the

Department of Transportation had complied with the necessary notice, filing and approval requirements of Sec. 337.241(1), Fla. Stat. (R:157).

The property at issue is located in Hillsborough County, Florida, adjacent to the intersection of Dale Mabry Highway and Waters Avenue. (R:65). The property is currently vacant, but is surrounded by industrial and commercial uses. (R:19;65). The property has been held for investment and potential development since 1969; has been demucked and filled at various locations (R:20); and has been partially cleared. (R:21). The highest and best use of the property is for commercial development (R:25;66), consistent with the surrounding uses of the property. (R:19;65).¹

The parent tract is 8.3 acres in size, while the area encompassed within the reservation map is 6.49 acres. (R:22;77). To the west of the property is a drainage canal referred to as Channel H. It was present when the current owners purchased the property. (See: H.O. Exhibit 1) (R:21). With the construction of Channel H the property was essentially dewatered resulting in a diminishment of the functions normally performed by wetlands. (R:46). A portion of the property continues to perform a wetlands

¹It was recognized in the Order adopted by the DOT that: "During the period between 1969 and present the value of the property has gradually risen until today it is sufficiently valuable to warrant development and the cost associated therewith." (R:232) (A:2).

function (R:47;104-105), although the habitat has been adversely impacted by the presence of Channel H. (R:48).²

The entire tract falls within the jurisdiction of the county's Environmental Protection Commission. Prior to the announcement by the Department of Transportation of its map of reservation, the Environmental Protection Commission inspected the property in an effort to determine the extent to which the property was developable. In a letter to the owners it was stated that 85% of the entire tract could be developed. (R:23;41) (See: H.O. Exhibit 2) (A:12). Private consultants hired by potential buyers of the tract also confirmed the developable nature of the property. (R:25).³

Prior to the announcement by the DOT of the map of reservation, the owners also worked with the State Department of Environmental Regulation dredge and fill inspector. It was the job of the dredge and fill inspector to delineate areas of wetlands, make recommendations on dredge and fill permits, and to advise owners regarding the type of use that could be made of the property. (R:44). An inspection of the property was made from which it was

²See also the Order adopted by the DOT. (R:233).

³At the hearing the DOT presented the testimony of an employee of the local DER Office in Tampa. It was represented that the determination made by the Hillsborough Environmental Commission was not binding on the DER. (R:99-100). The witness stated, however, that he did not have sufficient information to determine if 85% of the tract was developable. Nor could he make a determination of what type of development would be permitted. (R:100-101). The witness did make it clear that he was not saying that the applications for dredge and fill would be denied. (R:105).

concluded that the existing wetlands were impacted; the property was essentially dewatered by the construction of Channel H; as a result of the dewatering many of the wetlands functions were diminished. (R:45-46). A sketch of the uplands and wetlands area of the property was prepared. (R:48) (See: H.O. Exhibit 3). After viewing the property it was concluded that a 1/2 to 1 mitigation plan was acceptable. The example given was that if two acres of wetlands were to be developed, replacement of that wetlands would be required with one acre in another area of the property. (R:50-51).⁴

In October, 1985, prior to the DOT's notification of its intent to file a map of reservation, the owners entered into a contract for the sale of the entire property in the amount of \$800,000. (R:27-28). There were provisions in the contract which protected the purchaser in the event it was determined that the property could not be developed. (R:35-36). It was the opinion of the owner's appraisal witness that the inability to secure permits for development, due to the filing of the map of reservation, left the property without any utility. (R:68-69).

Subsequent to the filing of the map of reservation (R:105), additional meetings took place between the DOT, the Department of Environmental Regulation, the owners, and the potential purchaser.

⁴The DER representative offered by the Department testified that he had not personally inspected the property (R:102), but that one of his inspectors had made the preliminary determination of the extent of wetlands on the tract. (R:96). From this determination, it was estimated that 40 to 50% of the property within the area of the map of reservation was within the dredge and fill jurisdiction of the DER (R:97-98).

The purpose of these meetings was to discuss the permitting needs of the parcel, to clarify the Department of Environmental Regulation's jurisdiction over a portion of the property (R:95), and to see if the contract purchasers could still utilize the property in conjunction with the DOT. (R:32-33). Subsequent inspections confirmed that a portion of the property fell within wetlands jurisdiction (R:97-98), but the Department of Environmental Regulation had not gathered sufficient information to determine to what extent the property was developable or the type of development that would be permitted (R:100-101). The current Department of Environmental Regulation representative would not state that the property was undevelopable. (R:105).

Neither the owners nor the potential purchaser had submitted any formal development plans or applied for any of the necessary dredge and fill permits prior to the time the map of reservation was imposed. (R:33-35). Likewise, after the map of reservation was imposed, no attempt to secure development permits was made by either the owner or the potential purchaser. (R:39). As mentioned previously, all attempts at development were in the preliminary stages at the time the map of reservation was imposed.

The purpose of reserving this property was for future storm water drainage which would result from a planned project to change Dale Mabry Highway from four lanes to six lanes. (R:112-114).⁵ A

⁵The engineering witness offered by the DOT made it very clear that the purpose of filing the map of reservation was to prevent anybody from constructing buildings or making use of the property (Footnote Continued)

timetable for the construction of this project was not presented (R:123-126), although one witness thought the plan was to have construction plans completed by August, 1987, and to let a construction contract by December, 1987. (R:126). It was agreed, however, that any project is subject to change and is dependent upon funding. (R:154-155).⁶

For purposes of preserving the issue, the owners raised the constitutionality of Section 337.241, Fla. Stat. (R:11-12;74). The hearing officer entered an order, which was adopted by the Department, finding that the owners failed to prove that the "action of the DOT in filing the map of reservation is unreasonable or arbitrary." (R:237). The hearing officer apparently did not consider the evidence that the filing of the map would limit the future use of the property when deciding the issue of whether the regulation was unreasonable, since the order entered finds that this evidence "in effect, constitutes a challenge to the constitutionality of the statute." (R:237).

(Footnote Continued)
until the drainage plans could be finalized and condemnation proceedings could begin. (R:120). The intent was to maintain the status quo until DOT made use of the property. (R:122).

⁶The District Court acknowledged in its opinion that the DOT has since condemned the property within the area of the map of reservation and that the parties had entered into a settlement on that action and on the owners' counterclaim for inverse condemnation. The Court, however, determined that "the issue addressed here is one of great public importance and is likely to recur" and certified a question to this Court for resolution.

The District Court rendered an opinion upholding the validity of the challenged provisions. (A:72-89) and certified the following question:

Whether subsections 337.241(2) and (3) are unconstitutional in that they provide for an impermissible taking of property without just compensation and deny equal protection and due process in failing to provide an adequate remedy. (A:79)

The owners have timely appealed and request that this Court enter its decision answering the certified question in the affirmative and declaring the challenged provisions as facially unconstitutional.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court has certified the following question to this court:

WHETHER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN THAT THEY PROVIDE FOR AN IMPERMISSIBLE TAKING OF PROPERTY WITHOUT JUST COMPENSATION AND DENY EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS IN FAILING TO PROVIDE AN ADEQUATE REMEDY.

The question certified should be answered in the affirmative and the cited statutory provisions declared facially unconstitutional.

Sec. 337.241(2) (a) and (b), Florida Stat. (1986) is unconstitutional on its face as an attempted exercise of the power of eminent domain without the payment of compensation. The statute purports to deny, for up to 10 years, any use of vacant land over

which a map of reservation is imposed. During this 10-year period the owner receives no compensation even though all use of the property is denied. The imposition of a map of reservation is tantamount to the taking of an "easement" over the owner's property.

Sec. 337.241(2)(a) and (b), Florida Stat. (1986) is facially unconstitutional as an improper attempted exercise of the police power. Under the provision, property is not regulated. Instead, private property is reserved for public use without the payment of compensation.

The provisions cited above do not seek to prevent a public harm, but rather convey a tremendous public benefit. The provision benefits the public by creating a "land" bank into which the state can deposit private property without paying for it. The public is benefited in that they can make withdrawals from that "land" bank at any time during the five-year period. During the time the property is in the "land" bank the public, not the owner, has complete control and dominion over the property. The public further benefits because at some time in the future, if the property is acquired, they will be required to expend less costs in the acquisition. Because the regulation creates only a public benefit, it is an exercise of the power of eminent domain.

Sec. 337.241(3) places a substantially greater burden of proof to establish a taking than that required under any other situation involving a governmental taking. As such, the provision denies equal protection of the law and is unconstitutional.

Sec. 337.241(3) requires the determination of a constitutional issue by an administrative hearing officer, i.e., has a taking

occurred in violation of Article X, Sec. 6. Such determinations are to be made only by the judiciary.

The District Court, after recognizing the constitutional infirmity of the challenged provisions erred in not striking down the provision as facially unconstitutional. Instead the District Court sought to create a new remedy, contrary to the clear legislation intent of the provision. The District Court opinion should be quashed for grafting on a remedy that was not provided by the legislation.

The concurring opinion should be quashed, because it suggests that an owner should follow a futile path of permit applications, when the statute on its face prohibits the issuance of such permits.

The owners request that this court strike down the provisions in dispute as facially unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

Over 25 years ago Justice Drew, in a special concurring opinion, exhibited foresight and wisdom when he stated:

The fact that the sovereign is now engaged in great public enterprises necessitating the acquisition of large amounts of private property at greatly increasing costs, is no reason to depart from the firmly established principal that under our system the rights of the individual are matters of greatest concern to the Courts. The powerful government can usually take care of itself; when the Courts cease to protect the individual - within, of course, constitutional and statutory limitations - such individual rights will be rapidly swallowed up and disappear in the maw of the sovereign. If these immense acquisitions of lands point to anything, it is to the necessity of the Courts in seeing to it that, in the process of improving the general welfare, individual rights are not completely destroyed. Jacksonville Expressway Authority v. Henry G. Dupree, 108 So.2d 289, 293 (Fla. 1958).

In its zeal to provide a means by which the Department of Transportation can minimize the costs of future acquisition of private property, the legislature has enacted a provision which has fulfilled the prophetic warning of Justice Drew. In the application of Sec. 337.241(1) - 337.241(4), Fla. Stat., this court can witness, first-hand, how "individual rights" are rapidly being swallowed up and disappearing into the "maw of the sovereign."

THE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Section 337.241(1), Fla. Stat. (1986), provides that the Department of Transportation may prepare and file a map of reservation delineating the limits of any proposed right of way for

eventual road widening or for the initial construction of a road.

Section 337.241(2), Fla. Stat. (1986), provides:

Upon recording, such map shall establish:

(a) A building setback line from the centerline of any road existing as of the date of such recording; and no development permits, as defined in S.380.031(4), shall be granted by any governmental entity for new construction of any type or for renovation of existing commercial structure that exceeds 20 percent of the appraised value of the structure. No restriction shall be placed on the renovation or improvement of existing residential structures, as long as such structures continue to be used as private residences.

(b) An area of proposed road construction within which development permits, as defined in S.380.031(4), shall not be issued for a period of 5 years from the date of recording such map. The 5-year period may be extended for an additional 5-year period by the same procedure set forth in subsection (1). (Emphasis Supplied)

Section 380.031(4), Fla. Stat., referred to in the above section defines "development permit" as follows:

"Development permit" includes any building permit, zoning permit, plot approval, or rezoning, certification, variance, or other action having the effect of permitting development as defined in this chapter.

Section 380.04(1), Fla. Stat., defines "development" as:

...the carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels. (Emphasis Supplied)

The statute contains no procedure for a variance or exception to the "no permit" prohibition. Further, the statute makes no provision for compensation to an owner during the 10 years that the owner's land must remain vacant and unused.

THE IMPACT OF THE STATUTE

The net effect of the statute, where the map of reservation applies to vacant land, is to deny an owner the right to construct or develop anything on the property for at least five, and possibly up to 10 years. An owner cannot even subdivide the vacant property into 3 or more lots! Since every act relating to the property, except agricultural use (which is excluded from the definition of "development" per Sec. 380.04(3) (e)) requires some permit from the local or state authorities, the land must remain vacant during the 10-year period the map of reservation can remain in effect.

The purpose of this legislation is apparent: prevent all development or use of the property so that "if" the property is acquired during or after the expiration of the 10-year period, the cost of acquisition will have been substantially reduced or depressed by the prohibition of any use of the property.

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