IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR

CASE NO.

71,878

CLERK. SUI

JOINT VENTURES, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

MAXINE F. FERGUSON
Appellate Attorney
THOMAS H. BATEMAN, III
General Counsel
Department of Transportation
Haydon Burns Building, MS 58
605 Suwannee Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0458
904/488-9425

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

One of Appellant's prime concerns is that 5337.241, Florida Statutes, would be used to depress property values within the reservation area so that the condemning authority could acquire the property at a cheaper price. This is not one of the intended purposes of the statute. Even if a condemning authority had this improper motive, the Romer/Still/Chicone evidentiary rule concerning setback ordinances would prevent the statute from being used in this manner and the landowner would receive full compensation for his property based on current values of similar properties. Valuation would be made exclusive of any effect of the map of reservation.

Admittedly §337.241, Florida Statutes, does not require the Department to condemn the property it includes within the map of reservation. However, the setback ordinances in <u>Still</u> and <u>Romer</u> did not require the government to condemn the land within the setback either, yet both ordinances were upheld. In a closely related matter, the First District Court of Appeal cited to <u>Romer II</u> and <u>Still II</u> and held that neither the Department of Transportation's failure to purchase or condemn property nor representations made to property owners in connection with a possible purchase of property constitute a taking. <u>State Department of Transportation v. Donahoo</u>, 412 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Also, the U.S. Supreme Court has rejected the argument that a loss in value caused by an aborted eminent domain proceeding would constitute a taking. <u>Agins v. Tiburon</u>, <u>supra</u>. The <u>Agins</u> Court stated at footnote 9 of the opinion:

Appellants also claim that the precondemnation activities constitute a taking. See nn 1, 3, and 5, supra. The State Supreme Court correctly rejected the contention that the municipality's good-faith planning activities, which did not result in successful prosecution of eminent domain claim, so burdened the appellants' enjoyment of their property as to constitute a taking. See also City of Walnut Creek v. Leadership Housing Systems, Inc., 73 Cal App 3d 611, 620-624, 140 Cal Rptr 690, 695-697 (1977). Even if the appellants' ability to sell their property was limited during the pendency of the condemnation proceeding, the appellants were free to sell or develop their property when the proceedings ended. Mere fluctuations in value during the process of governmental decision-making, absent extraordinary delay, are "incidents of ownership. They cannot be considered as a 'taking' in the constitutional sense.'' (Citations omitted)

Agins, supra at 263. See also Penn Central, supra, at 438 U.S. 131.

Joint Ventures' copious string cites are easily distinguishable from the instant cause. The majority of Joint Ventures' cases fall within one of two categories: either the governmental entity was acting outside its scope of authority or the law being applied prohibited compensation even if a taking actually occurred. In this first category, the courts addressed the constitutionality of a statute or law as applied. For example, in Grand Trunk Western R. Co. v. City of Detroit, 326 Mich. 387, 40 N.W.2d 195 (1949), the court, in addressing the constitutionality of a zoning ordinance as applied, held that the city was misusing its zoning authority in not following the guidelines in its enabling act. Accord Peterson v. City of Decorah, 259 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa App. 1977); Hoyert v. Board of County Commissioners, 278 A.2d 588 (Md. 1971); Long v. City of Highland Park, 329 Mich. 146, 45 N.W.2d 10 (1950); Robyn v. City of Dearborn, 341 Mich. 495, 67 N.W.2d 718 (1954); State ex rel Tingley v. Gurda, 309 Wisc. 6, 243 N.W. 317 (1932).

Forester v. Scott, 136 N.Y. 577, 32 N.E. 976 (N.Y. 1893) and Lackman v. Hall, 364 A.2d 1244 (Del. 1976) are illustrative of the second category where courts have struck down statutory provisions when the provision prohibits compensation, even if a taking actually occurs. In Lackman, supra, no remedial measures were provided in \$337.241(3), Florida Statutes, and the statute under review specifically provided that a map of reservation was not a taking. Consequently, in a particular factual situation where the landowner was denied all beneficial use of his property, the statute prohibited his filing an inverse condemnation claim which left the landowner without any available remedy. Again, as noted by the First District below ". . . a landowner has a constitutional right to file an action in inverse condemnation in an appropriate forum, which in

this state could be the circuit court." (A: 6) Unlike the statutes in Forester, supra, and Lackman, supra, 5337.241, Florida Statutes, does not violate this right.

Also, Joint Ventures' reliance on <u>Miller v. City of Beaver Falls</u>, 368

Pa. 189, 82 A.2d 34 (1951) is without merit. Initially it must be noted that Pennsylvania, unlike Florida, has a constitution which requires compensation for both a taking <u>and damage</u>. Additionally, in <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, the city attempted to reserve land for a park under a local ordinance. In holding this ordinance unconstitutional, the Court specifically distinguished the facts before it from those in which the public streets were involved. Id. at 37.

Joint Ventures urges this Court to apply the test set forth in <u>Graham v. Estuary Properties</u>, 399 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1981) to the instant cause. Again Joint Ventures fails to distinguish between a facial and as applied constitutional challenge. In <u>Estuary Properties</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court addressed the constitutionality of the Florida Environmental Land and Water Management Act of 1972, ch. 380, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1974) <u>as applied</u> to a particular parcel of land. As expressed by this Court, "(W)hether a regulation is a valid exercise of the police power or a taking depends on the circumstances of each case." <u>Id</u>. at 1380. Even a cursory review of the factors listed by the court reveals that the individual peculiarities of an affected parcel are what is being analyzed, not the facial constitutionality of a statute.

Joint Ventures attempts to classify 5337.241, Florida Statutes, as an exercise of the state's eminent domain power rather that of the state's police power, by arguing that §337.241, Florida Statutes, promotes a public benefit rather than prevents a public harm. However, as argued above, the

planning and construction of safe and adequate highways is a proper field for the exercise of the police power and prevents the public harm of an inadequate, unsafe, poorly planned transportation system. Joint Ventures' vision to the contrary is myopic.

Additionally, in the area of land use regulation, the benefit-harm distinction has been discredited by the U.S. Supreme Court. Penn Central, supra, at 438 U.S. 133-134. Accord State v. Powell, 497 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1986) in which this Court noted that 5732.9185, Florida Statute (1983) is a valid exercise of the police power in that it "promotes the permissible state objective of restoring sight to the blind". Id. at 1193. Clearly, 5732.9185, Florida Statutes, does not prevent a public harm, but does promote a public benefit.

In summary, the United States Supreme Court and the Florida Courts have consistently denied facial constitutional attacks on land use regulations and have stated that a taking does not occur until the state actually "takes" the property. Such a taking can occur when the state commences condemnation procedures. When this occurs, the Department will not be able to use the effect of the application of 5337.241, Florida Statutes, to devalue property at the valuation hearing. Therefore the statute should be upheld as facially constitutional.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY SUSTAINED 5337.241, FLORIDA STATUTES, ON THE BASIS THAT ANOTHER REMEDY WAS AVAILABLE TO THE OWNER OTHER THAN THAT WHICH WAS PROVIDED BY THE STATUTE.

The District Court opinion below found 5337.241, Florida Statutes, constitutional since a landowner "has an appropriate avenue of relief for its claim of taking and its entitlement to just compensation therefor. • ."

(A: 7) Inverse condemnation is not a creature of the legislature but a constitutional right:

We have recognized that a landowner is entitled to bring an action in inverse condemnation as a result of "'the self-executing character of the constitutional provision with respect to compensation. . ."" (citations omitted)

First Lutheran Church v. Los Angeles County, 482 U.S. _____, 96 L.Ed.2d 250, 264, 107 S.Ct. 2378 (1987).

The remedies available to affected landowners to insure compliance with federal and state constitutions need not be spelled out in detail in a legislative enactment. The affected landowner has a constitutional right to pursue compensation via an inverse condemnation action if a taking actually occurs. The legislature need not include a reiteration of this right in 5337.241, Florida Statutes (1987), as long as the statute does not prohibit compensation in a case where a taking actually occurs.

Storer Cable, supra, does not support Joint Ventures' argument. As noted above, this Court, in Storer, refused to severe the no Compensation

clause, not because the Court refused to draft a remedy onto the subject statute but because the Legislature never determined that cable television served a public purpose.

POINT III

SECTION 337.241, FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT DEPRIVE AV OWNER OF DUE PROCESS.

As argued above, §337.241, Florida Statutes, is an exercise of the state's police power which in three certain circumstances may evolve into an eminent domain proceedings. The first of these circumstances is where after the filing of the map of reservation, the Department decides to begin the construction of the highway project. At this point in time, the Department would file a condemnation action under either Chapter 73 or 74, Florida Statutes, and a judicial determination of public purpose and necessity would follow.

The second situation exists where the landowner seeks administrative review under subsection (3). If it is determined that the Department's actions were arbitrary or unreasonable , and that the landowner was denied the beneficial use of a substantial portion of his property, then the Department must either remove the reservation, acquire the property or proceed to file a condemnation action. This language is a lesser standard than that standard for a constitutional taking. A constitutional taking only occurs when a regulation deprives the landowner of all reasonable uses. Estuary Properties, supra; Gorieb, supra. "Substantial portions of" is less than "all". Thus, a property owner affected by 5337.241, Florida Statutes, actually has an easier standard to meet than an inverse condemnation plaintiff. In fact, the statute requires the Department to initiate condemnation proceedings when less than a "constitutional taking" is shown. When the requisite showing has been made, the Department is given only two options: file a condemnation action or lose the reservation.

If nothing else, this provision of the statute, which requires the Department to file an eminent domain action or lose the reservation, saves the statute from constitutional infirmity. The landowner can prove the reservation is unreasonable and substantially denies use and thereby defeats the reservation. The Department then must chose between losing the reservation or acquiring the property. Full due process is provided the landowner through the administrative hearing process to protect the property's value and use or to force the Department to proceed with acquisition. Should the Department proceed with the condemnation action under Chapter 73 or 74, there would be a judicial determination of public purpose and necessity before a taking occurs.

The third circumstance is in those rare situations when a map of reservation as applied to particular property constitutes a taking. those circumstances inverse condemnation actions are available to the landowner in which again a judicial determination is made as to public purpose and necessity. Presumably, this is the situation Joint Ventures is addressing. However, Joint Ventures fails to cite any authority for its contention that a land-use regulation is facially unconstitutional because in certain factual situations takings may occur prior to a judicial Joint Ventures confuses facial hearing. Again, and constitutional challenges of a statutes. If Joint Ventures' argument was correct all zoning ordinances and land use regulations would be facially unconstitutional because any regulation given a proper factual showing may constitute a taking. This however does not mean that the regulation is facially unconstitutional.

State Road Department v. Forehand, 56 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1952) does not further Joint Ventures' argument. In Forehand, this Court struck down the

first "quick take" statute as unconstitutional since it allowed, prior to any court determination of public purpose and necessity, the actual physical taking and putting to public use of all properties condemned under Chapters 73 & 74, Florida Statutes. Unlike this first "quick take" provision, 5337.241, Florida Statutes, does not authorize the Department, in any situation, to take physical possession of property and put it to public use prior to a judicial hearing.

POINT IV

SECTION 337.241(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT DENY EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW

Section 337.241(3), Florida Statutes does not violate equal protection of the law in that the statute applies to all persons similarly circumstanced. See Rotenberg v. City of Fort Pierce, 202 So.2d 782 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). All landowners whose property is subject to a map of reservation have two remedies available to challenge the reservation. First is the statutory administrative remedy whereby an affected landowner may request a hearing in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 120. \$337.241(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). During the hearing, no determination is made as to whether a taking occurred. Rather, if the landowner shows that the map is unreasonable or arbitrary and that its effect is to deny a substantial portion of the beneficial use of the property, 6 the Department must either acquire the property or file an eminent domain proceeding. From this point on, the landowner is treated the same as any person whose lands are being condemned by the Department.

The other remedy available to an affected landowner is inverse condemnation. As argued above, this remedy is not a creation of the District Court or of the Legislature, but is a constitutional right. If the landowner alleges that a taking has occurred, he has the same rights and burdens as any other property owner proceeding under an inverse claim.

⁶As argued above in Point 111, this language is a lesser standard than that standard for a constitutional taking. A constitutional taking only occurs when a regulation deprives the landowner of <u>all</u> reasonable uses. <u>Estuary Properties</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In summary, §337.241(3), Florida Statutes, treats all landowners within an area of reservation who administratively challenge the reservation similarly. Also, if the landowner alleges a taking, he receives the same treatment as other property owners claiming inverse condemnation. Consequently, §337.241(3), Florida Statutes, does not deny equal protection of law.

POINT V

SECTION 337.241(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT REQUIRE A HEARING OFFICER TO MAKE A DETERMINATION OF A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE.

As argued above in Point 111, during an administrative hearing under \$337.241(3), Florida Statutes, the hearing officer does not determine whether a taking has occurred. This is determined by a circuit court judge either when the Department files an eminent domain proceeding under Chapters 73 and 74, Florida Statutes, or when the landowner files an inverse condemnation action. The mere fact that a legislative staff summary likens the administrative proceeding to an inverse suit does not alter this. Accordingly, Joint Ventures' argument is uncompelling.

POINT VI

JOINT VENTURES' ARGUMENT AS TO THE CONCURRING OPINION SHOULD BE DISREGARDED AS IRRELEVANT.

Joint Ventures' argument challenging the concurring opinion of Judge Ervin is indeed puzzling in that it is well known that concurring opinions have no binding effect as precedent and are not a part of the law of the case. Rachleff v. Mahon, 124 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960). This argument should be disregarded as even Joint Ventures admits the issue is irrelevant. See I.B. p. 42, footnote 8. However, the Department does agree with Judge Ervin that Joint Ventures' appeal was not ripe as they failed to prove in the proceedings below that the subject property had lost beneficial use of a substantial portion of the property.

CONCLUSION

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